
Meeting of the Board of Directors 

May 18, 2023 
REGULAR MEETING 

Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m. 

Estimated Ending Time 11:30 a.m. 

City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers 
100 Santa Rosa Avenue 

Santa Rosa, CA 

Meeting Agenda and Documents 



 

ZERO WASTE SONOMA 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

May 18, 2023 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m.  

 
Table of Contents 

 Description            Page 

Agenda     1 
Agenda Notes   4 
Item 4.1: Minutes of the March 16, 2023 Meeting    5 
Item 4.2: March, April, May, and June 2023 Outreach Calendar    9 
Item 4.3: Approval of First Amendment to Agreement for HHW Transportation and Disposal  11 
  Services with ACTenviro 
Item 4.4:  Approval of Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation,  39 
  and Recycling Services with Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC 
Item 4.5: Approval of Fourth Amendment to Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for   65 
  Oil Payment Program  
Item 4.6:  Approval of Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Spanish Language 69 
  Outreach Program 
Item 5: Approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household Hazardous 85 
  Waste Operations with Clean Harbors   
 
 
  
   
 
   
 
      
 
 
 

 
Note: This packet is 90 pages total 



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

 Zero Waste Sonoma 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

May 18, 2023 
REGULAR MEETING 

Regular Session begins at 9:00 a.m. 
Estimated Ending Time 11:30 a.m. 

City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers 
100 Santa Rosa Avenue 

Santa Rosa, CA 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Public Comment may be submitted via recorded voice message or email.  Public comment 
may also be made by “raising your hand” using the Zoom platform.   

Voice recorded public comment: To submit public comment via recorded message, please 
call 707-565-3687 by 5:00 pm Wednesday, May 17th. State your name and the item 
number(s) on which you wish to speak. The recordings will be limited to two minutes. 
These comments may be played or read at the appropriate time during the board meeting. 

Email public comment: To submit an emailed public comment to the Board please email 
leslie.lukacs@sonoma-county.org and provide your name, the number(s) on which you 
wish to speak, and your comment. These comments will be emailed to all Board members 
and can be provided anytime leading up to and throughout the meeting. 

1

mailto:leslie.lukacs@sonoma-county.org


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda 

Item 

1. Call to Order

2. Agenda Approval

3. Public Comments (items not on the agenda)

Consent (w/attachments) 

4.1    Minutes of the March 16, 2023 Meeting 
4.2    March, April, May, and June 2023 Outreach Calendar 
4.3    Approval of First Amendment to Agreement for HHW Transportation and 

Disposal Services with ACTenviro 
4.4 Approval of Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, 

Transportation, and Recycling Services with Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC 
4.5 Approval of Fourth Amendment to Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions 

for Oil Payment Program 
4.6 Approval of Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Spanish Language 

Outreach Program 

Regular Calendar 

5. Approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste
Operations with Clean Harbors

6. Boardmember Comments – NO ACTION

7. Executive Director Report – VERBAL REPORT

8. Staff Comments – NO ACTION

9. Next ZWS meeting:  June 15, 2023

10. Adjourn

Consent Calendar:  These matters include routine financial and administrative actions and are usually approved by a single 
majority vote.  Any Boardmember may remove an item from the consent calendar. 

Regular Calendar:  These items include significant and administrative actions of special interest and are classified by 
program area.  The regular calendar also includes "Set Matters," which are noticed hearings, work sessions and public 
hearings. 

Public Comments: Pursuant to Rule 6, Rules of Governance of the Sonoma County Waste Management Agency/Zero Waste 
Sonoma, members of the public desiring to speak on items that are within the jurisdiction of the Agency shall have an 
opportunity at the beginning and during each regular meeting of the Agency.  When recognized by the Chair, each person  

2



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100    Santa Rosa, California  95403    Phone: 707/565-3579    www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

should give his/her name and address and limit comments to 3 minutes.  Public comments will follow the staff report and 
subsequent Boardmember questions on that Agenda item and before Boardmembers propose a motion to vote on any 
item. 

Disabled Accommodation:  If you have a disability that requires the agenda materials to be in an alternative format or 
requires an interpreter or other person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact the Zero Waste Sonoma 
Office at 2300 County Center Drive, Suite B100, Santa Rosa, (707) 565-3788, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, to 
ensure arrangements for accommodation by the Agency. 

Noticing:  This notice is posted 72 hours prior to the meeting on the internet at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

3

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

      

To: Zero Waste Sonoma Board Members 

From: Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director 

Subject: May 18,  2023 Board Meeting Agenda Notes 

Consent Calendar 
These items include routine financial, informational and administrative items and staff recommends that 
they be approved en masse by a single vote.  Any Board member may remove an item from the consent 
calendar for further discussion or a separate vote by bringing it to the attention of the Chair.  

4.1     Minutes of the March 16, 2023 Meeting 
4.2 March, April, May, and June 2023 Outreach Calendar 
4.3 Approval of First Amendment to Agreement for HHW Transportation and Disposal Services with 

ACTenviro 
4.4 Approval of Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling 

Services with Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC 
4.5 Approval of Fourth Amendment to Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Oil Payment 

Program  
4.6 Approval of Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Spanish Language Outreach Program 

Regular Calendar 

5  Approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste Operations 
with Clean Harbors 
The management of HHW generated in Sonoma County is a core function of ZWS.  Current programs 
operated by Clean Harbors include the permanent HHW Facility for residents and Very Small Quantity 
Generating businesses, weekly temporary HHW Collection Events, and the HHW Rover Service.  In April 
2022, the Board approved the Third Amendment to the Agreement that included an 8% increase equating 
to roughly $124,000, an extension of one year, and liquidated damages for the following categories: 
reporting, manifesting, battery sorting, collection events, safety, regulatory, paint service, and other. This 
extension expires on June 30, 2023. Staff and Clean Harbors would like to extend the term of the 
agreement by one year to expire on June 30, 2024.  Staff recommends the Board approve the resolution 
authorizing the Zero Waste Sonoma Executive Director to execute the Fourth Amendment to the 
Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste Operations with Clean Harbors Environmental Services and 
to approve any minor edits of the draft Agreement. 

4



March 16, 2023 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

Agenda Item #: 4.1 
Agenda Date: 2 

Minutes of the March 16, 2023 Meeting 

Zero Waste Sonoma met on March 16, 2023, at the City of Santa Rosa Council Chambers, 100 Santa 
Rosa Ave., Santa Rosa, California. 

Board Members Present: 
City of Cloverdale – David Kelly City of Santa Rosa – Dianna MacDonald 
City of Cotati – Susan Harvey  City of Sebastopol – Diana Rich 
City of Healdsburg – Evelyn Mitchell City of Sonoma  - ABSENT 
City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter County of Sonoma – Susan Gorin 
City of Rohnert Park – Emily Sanborn Town of Windsor – Deb Fudge 

Staff Present: 
Executive Director: Leslie Lukacs 
Counsel: Ethan Walsh  
Staff: Xinci Tan, Thora Collard, Kristen Sales, Katherine Cushwa, Courtney Scott, Sloane Pagal 
Agency Clerk: Thora Collard  

1. Call to Order Closed Session 9:00 a.m.

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS (Sec. 54956.8)
Property:  5885 Pruitt Avenue Windsor, CA 95492 
Agency Negotiators:  Leslie Lukacs, Ethan Walsh 
Negotiating Parties:  David M. Carroll, John M. Shea II 
Under Negotiation: Price and terms of payment 

2. Adjourn Closed Session at 9:37 a.m.

3. Call to Order Regular Meeting
Regular session was called to order at 9:43 a.m.
Introductions

4. Agenda Approval

5. Public Comments (items not on the agenda)

6. Consent (w/attachments)
6.1    Minutes of the February 16, 2023 Meeting
6.2    February, March, and April 2023 Outreach Calendar
6.3    ZWS FY 2023/24 Final Budget

Board Comment: Move item 6.3 from consent to after item 7

5



March 16, 2023 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

Public Comments:  
Bonita Cole – Would like to more outreach in the community to inspire better involvement. 

Motion: For approval of the consent calendar. 

First: City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter 
Second: City of Sebastopol – Diana Rich 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  ABSENT 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -9- NOES -0- ABSENT -1- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

Regular Calendar 

7. Public Hearing for the Consideration of Organics Disposal Fee and ZWS Fee Increase [Collard]

Board Comments/Action Items:
• What are the increases proposed by Republic?
• What is the Agency Fee?
• How does this impact our reserves?
• What is the percentage decrease to the organics decrease?
• This report is a great blend between cost coverage and ratepayer consideration
• What are the restrictions on the use of the reserve funds?
• Can we raise the fee higher than what was posted?

Public Comments: 
None 

Motion: To approve the increase of $0.65/ton to the Sonoma County Waste Management 
surcharge and increase the Organics tipping fee by $4.00/ton. 

First: City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter 
Second: County of Sonoma – Susan Gorin 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  ABSENT 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

6



March 16, 2023 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

AYES -9- NOES -0- ABSENT -1- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

6. Item 6.3 - ZWS FY 2023/24 Final Budget [Collard]

Board Comments/Action Items:
• Can staff address their marketing methods?

Public Comments:  
Bonita Cole – I would like to see more money spent on marketing.  Signage in public spaces, 
articles in the paper, etc. 

Motion: To approve the FY23/24 Final Budget 

First: City of Petaluma – Patrick Carter 
Second: County of Sonoma – Susan Gorin 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  ABSENT 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

8. Consideration of an Agreement with Sparkl Reusables to Conduct a Reusable Foodware
Infrastructure & Services Pilot Program and Approval of Estimated Cost for Services and
Associated Fees [Pagal]

Board Comments/Action Items:
• How many businesses do we expect to impact?
• What do you expect to be able to implement within the confines of this grant?
• How many events?
• How many institutions?
• What will be the selection process?
• Can we partner with existing refill companies in the county?
• We need to be PFAs free containers and make sure they are recyclable at end of life.
• How do we keep consumers from throwing the containers in the trash when they are

done?
• Where is the wash facility going to be located?
• Are the pilots going to be going on at the same time or will you wait for the success of

each one?
• What is the reuse rate for the containers?
• Will the original purchased items be owned by ZWS?  How can we use lessons learned

from this pilot moving forward?
• Has Sparkl worked with Green Mary?  There may be an opportunity for synergy.
• Is there anything that would preclude a private business interested in entering into this

field?

7



March 16, 2023 – SCWMA Meeting Minutes 

Public Comments:  
Bonita Cole – this is a good program, but I worry about water usage for a program like this. 

Motion: Motion to approve the execution of the Agreement with Sparkl Reusables for a Sonoma 
County Reusable Foodware Infrastructure and Services Pilot Program and approve the projected 
cost of services totaling $75,000 

First: City of Rohnert Park – Emily Sanborn 
Second: City of Sebastopol – Diana Rich 

Vote Count: 
City of Cloverdale AYE City of Santa Rosa AYE 
City of Cotati  AYE City of Sebastopol AYE 
City of Healdsburg AYE City of Sonoma  ABSENT 
City of Petaluma AYE County of Sonoma AYE 
City of Rohnert Park AYE Town of Windsor AYE 

AYES -9- NOES -0- ABSENT -1- ABSTAIN -0- 
Motion passed. 

Dianna MacDonald left 10:57 a.m. 

7. Boardmember Comments – NO ACTION

8. Executive Director Report – NO ACTION

9. Staff Comments – NO ACTION

10. Next SCWMA meeting: April 20, 2023

11. Adjourn: 11:03 am

Submitted by: Thora Collard 

8



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

 Agenda Item #:  4.2 
  Agenda Date: 5/18/2023 

ITEM:  March, April, May, June 2023 Outreach Calendar 

March 2023 OUTREACH  

Start date End date Start time End time Event 

3/1/23 3/1/23 8:00 AM 11:00 AM Petaluma DMV 

3/7/23 3/7/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Monte Rio 

3/11/23 3/11/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM Mattress Recycling – Graton 

3/11/23 3/11/23 10:00 AM 4:00 PM North Bay Science Discovery Day – Santa Rosa 

3/10/23 3/12/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event – Graton

3/14/23 3/14/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Oakmont 

3/18/23 3/18/23 10:00 AM 2:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Bodega Bay 

3/20/23 3/20/23 8:00 AM 11:00 AM Santa Rosa DMV 

3/21/23 3/21/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Windsor 

3/22/23 3/22/23 8:00 AM 11:00 AM Petaluma DMV 

3/28/23 3/28/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Petaluma 

April 2023 OUTREACH 
Start date End date Start time End time Event 

4/1/23 4/1/23 9:00 AM 12:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Windsor 

4/2/23 4/2/23 9:00 AM 12:00 AM Compost Giveaway – Sebastopol 

4/4/23 4/4/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Sebastopol 

4/7/23 4/9/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event – Sonoma

4/8/23 4/8/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM Mattress Recycling – Sonoma 

4/11/23 4/11/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Sonoma 

4/15/23 4/15/23 11:00 AM 3:00 PM Environmental Resource Fair at Latino Family Education Summit – 
Cotati  

4/18/23 4/18/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Sonoma 

4/19/23 4/19/23 11:00 AM 1:00 PM SRJC Fix-it Clinix – Santa Rosa 

4/21/23 4/21/23 9:00 AM 12:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Larson Park/Springs   

4/22/23 4/22/23 12:00 PM 4:00 PM Santa Rosa Earth Day 

4/22/23 4/23/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event – Monte Rio

4/22/23 4/22/23 10:00 AM 2:00 PM DEA Drug Take Back Day 

9



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Start date End date Start time End time Event 

4/22/23 4/23/23 10:00 AM 5:00 PM 50th Annual Bodega Bay Fisherman’s Festival 

4/23/23 4/23/23 10:00 AM 1:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Cazadero 

4/23/23 4/23/23 9:00 AM 3:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Petaluma 

4/25/23 4/25/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Cloverdale 

May 2023 OUTREACH 
Start date End date Start time End time Event 

5/2/23 5/2/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Guerneville 

5/6/23 5/6/23 9:00 AM 12:00 AM Compost Giveaway – Sebastopol 

5/6/23 5/6/23 10:00 AM 3:00 PM Fire & Earthquake Safety Expo – Healdsburg 

5/6/23 5/6/23 10:00 AM 1:00 PM Community Health and Engagement Fair – Guerneville 

5/9/23 5/9/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Santa Rosa (East) 

5/11/23 5/11/23 7:00 AM 2:00 PM Z2 Track Days – Sonoma Raceway 

5/12/23 5/14/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event – Healdsburg

5/13/23 5/13/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM Mattress Recycling – Healdsburg 

5/13/23 5/13/23 10:00 AM 4:00 PM Compost Giveaway/ Eco-Friendly Garden Tours 

5/16/23 5/16/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Rohnert Park 

5/21/23 5/21/23 10:00 AM 1:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Cazadero 

5/23/23 5/23/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Windsor 

5/30/23 5/30/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Kenwood 

June 2023 OUTREACH 
Start date End date Start time End time Event 

6/3/23 6/3/23 9:00 AM 12:00 PM Compost Giveaway – Santa Rosa, Recology Yard 

6/6/23 6/6/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Oakmont 

6/13/23 6/13/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Bodega Bay 

6/15/23 6/15/23 8:00 AM 12:00 PM Compost/Mulch Giveaway – Santa Rosa 

6/16/23 6/18/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM E-Waste Recycling Event – Santa Rosa

6/17/23 6/17/23 9:00 AM 5:00 PM Mattress Recycling – Luther Burbank Center 

6/20/23 6/20/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Larkfield 

6/23/23 6/23/23 1:30 PM 4:30 PM Korbel Environmental, Health, And Safety Fair 

6/27/23 6/27/23 4:00 PM 8:00 PM HHW Collection Event – Healdsburg 

10



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

Agenda Item #: 4.3 
Staff Contact: Scott 
Agenda Date: May 18, 2023 
Approved By: LL 

ITEM:  Approval of First Amendment to Agreement for HHW Transportation and 
Disposal Services with ACTenviro 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends the Board approve the resolution authorizing the Zero Waste Sonoma (ZWS) 

Executive Director to execute the First Amendment to Agreement for On-Call Household Hazardous 

Waste (HHW) Transportation and Disposal Services with ACTenviro.

II. BACKGROUND
During the COVID emergency, logistical disruptions greatly impacted the ability for ZWS’s primary 
HHW contractor, Clean Harbors Environmental Services, to ship and dispose of the material 
collected at the HHW facility. Nationwide incinerator backlogs and closures, truck driver shortages, 
trailer shortages, and labor shortages created significant storage and operational challenges at 
ZWS’s HHW facility and facilities across the state.
To ensure site safety and to avoid facility closures or violations, staff sought a back-up contractor 
that could provide transportation and disposal services for HHW on an as-needed basis. At the 
October 2021 ZWS Board Meeting, the Board authorized the Executive Director to execute an 
Agreement for On-Call HHW Transportation and Disposal Services with ACTenviro (Agreement). That 
Agreement expires on June 30, 2023.

III. DISCUSSION
Operations at the HHW facility have improved significantly over the last year, however sporadic 

shipping issues continue due to backlogs and temporary closures of incinerators.

Clean Harbors will continue to provide labor, equipment, and supplies for HHW facility operations 

and will also continue to transport and dispose of HHW. If Clean Harbors cannot ship HHW in a 

timely manner from the facility, ACTenviro will be contacted to assist. To date, Clean Harbors has 

been able to perform all operations and staff has not had to utilize the contract with ACTenviro. The 

Agreement allows for two annual extensions and staff is requesting a First Amendment to extend 

the contract with ACTenviro through June 30, 2024. The First Amendment also updates the pricing 

structure.

IV. FUNDING IMPACT
ACTenviro’s disposal rates are higher than Clean Harbors by approximately 18%.  Clean Harbors 

averages between $50,000 - $70,000 in disposal fees per month and any funds paid to ACTenviro will 

be a reduction to the Clean Harbors budget appropriations.  Staff is requesting the Board

11

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California 95403 | Phone: 707.565.3579 | www.zerowastesonoma.gov  

approve ACTenviro’s services not to exceed $140,000 per fiscal year through FY 23/24. 

V. ATTACHMENTS

Resolution
First Amendment to Agreement for On-Call HHW Transportation and Disposal Services
Agreement for On-Call HHW Transportation and Disposal Services

12

http://www.zerowastesonoma.gov/


RESOLUTION NO.: 2023-10 

DATED:  May 18, 2023 

RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO 
WASTE SONOMA, (“AGENCY”) AUTHORIZING A FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT WITH ACT 
ENVIRO (“CONTRACTOR”) FOR ON-CALL HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE TRANSPORTATION 

AND DISPOSAL SERVICES 

WHEREAS, Agency has an existing program pursuant to which it collects 
hazardous waste at the existing Household Hazardous Waste Facility (“HHW Facility”) 
from residents, businesses that qualify as Very Small Quantity Generators (“VSQG”), 
from a Temporary Event Program, and Door to Door Collection Service; and 

WHEREAS, Agency administers the operation of the HHW Facility; and 

WHEREAS, Agency currently contracts with Clean Harbors Environmental 
Services, Inc. (the “Primary Contractor”) to operate the HHW Facility and provide 
appropriate reuse, recycling, and disposal of collected wastes; and 

WHEREAS, the Primary Contractor may be unable to fulfill its transportation 
and disposal services at the scale necessary to operate the HHW Facility and 
appropriately and timely process and dispose of hazardous wastes; and  

WHEREAS, Contractor is available to provide on call transportation and 
disposal services for household hazardous waste as needed at the HHW Facility to allow 
for the continued operation and safety of the HHW Facility; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor represents to Agency that it is duly qualified in handling, 
transporting, and disposing of HHW; and  

WHEREAS, the Agreement for On-Call HHW Transportation and Disposal 
Services was executed on October 27, 2021 and expires on June 30, 2023; and 

   WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of the Agency, it is 
necessary and desirable to extend the services of Contractor to assist in the 
transportation and disposal of HHW. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zero Waste Sonoma Board hereby 
authorizes the Agency’s Executive Director to negotiate and execute the First 
Amendment to the Agreement with ACTenviro for On-Call Household Hazardous Waste 
Transportation and Disposal Services through June 30, 2024. 

13



MEMBERS: 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: -- NOES: -- ABSENT: -- ABSTAIN: -- 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:           DATE:  May 18, 2023 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of Zero Waste Sonoma of the State of California 
in and for the County of Sonoma 
County of Sonoma 

14



1 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR ON-CALL HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE 
TRANSPORTATION AND DISPOSAL SERVICES  

This First Amendment to the On-Call Household Hazardous Waste Transportation and 
Disposal Services Agreement (“First Amendment”) is by and between the Sonoma County Waste 
Management Agency (“Agency”), and ACTenviro, ("Contractor"). The effective date shall be the 
date upon which the Executive Director issues a written notice to proceed to Contractor.  

RECITALS 

A. Agency and Contractor entered into an Agreement for On-Call Household
Hazardous Waste Transportation and Disposal Services ("Agreement") executed
on October 27, 2021, pursuant to which Contractor agreed to transport and
dispose of household hazardous waste as needed; and

B. The Agreement term expires on June 30, 2023; and

C. Agency and Contractor desire to update the payment terms and extend the term
of the Agreement to expire on June 30, 3024.

AMENDMENT 

1. Amendment to Section 3. Section 3 is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

"3. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be from Effective Date to June
30, 2024, with up to one annual extension upon written mutual agreement, which
extensions may be authorized on behalf of the Agency by the Agency Executive Director,
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 below.”

2. Amendment to Exhibit B. Exhibit B is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

/// 

/// 

/// [Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

/// 

/// 

15



2 

EXHIBIT B 
SCHEDULE OF COSTS 

WASTE DISPOSAL MATRIX 

Category Qty HHWCF 
FY20/21 

Waste Mgmt. 
Method 

Waste 
Packaging 

Method 

Unit Size 
(priced per 
container 

unless 
noted lb.) 

T&D Cost 
per Unit 

Pounds per 
Unit 

[1] [2] [3] [4] [5] 
Flammable & Poison 

Flammable solid 3,750 DI LO 55 $425.00  250 
Fussee 946 DI LO in H2O 5 $350.00  120 
Flammable Liquid Loose Pack 172,550 FB LO 55 $250.00  250 
Flammable Liquid - Bulk 61,650 FB BU 55 $165.00  450 
Oil Based Paint - PaintCare  157,270 FB LO Varies  N/A  750 
Paint Related Material 216,200 FB LO CYB $650.00  900 
Poison liquids 179,505 DI LP 55 $300.00  250 
Poison solids 73,550 DI LP CYB $725.00  900 
Reactives (4.1, 4.2, 4.3)  61 DI LP 5 $200.00  20 
Flares - 1.4D 50 DI LP 5 $225.00  15 

Acid 
Acid 42,000 TR LP 55 $265.00  250 

Base 
Base 100,064 TR LP 55 $265.00  250 

Oxidizer 
Organic peroxides 38 DI LP 5 $200.00  15 
Oxygen-thin walled cylinders 15 RC LP EA $15.00  
Oxidizing base 29,700 TR LP 55 $435.00  250 
Oxidizing acid 6,236 TR LP 20 $300.00  50 

PCB-containing 
Other PCB waste (ballasts) 4,200 DI LP LB $6.10  700 

Aerosol 
Aerosols 89,500 FB/DI LO CYB $725.00  600 

Reclaimable 
Antifreeze 46,058 RC BU GAL 8.5 
Lead-Acid Batteries N/A RC PA lb $0.25  40 
Fluorescent Tubes N/A RC LO LF $0.16  0.125 
HID lamps N/A RC LO EA $3.00  0.50 
Compact fluorescent lamps N/A RC LO EA $1.25  0.25 
U-Tubes N/A RC LO EA $1.25  0.50 
UV Lamps N/A RC LO EA $6.00  0.625 
Latex Paint - PaintCare (box) 175,537 RC LO CYB  N/A  750 
Latex Paint - PaintCare (roll-off) 893,000 RC LO Roll-off  N/A  20,000 
Motor Oil 197,195 RC BU GAL 8 
Oil Filters 6,000 RC LO 55 $125.00  400 
Mercury 190 RC LP 5 $350.00  25 

Other 
Propane 5 gal 17,855 RC PA EA $10.00  25 
MAPP Gas 150 RC LO EA $15.00  30 
Flammable Gas small cyls. 7,006 RC LO CYB  CBC  450 
Fire Extinguishers 13,510 RC LO EA $10.00  200 
Freon 16oz - 2-gal 120 RC LO EA $35.00  40 
Spray Foam 1-5 gal 400 DI LO EA $45.00  400 
Sharps N/A DI LO Tub $35.00  25 
Non-PCB Ballasts 4,301 DI LO LB $0.40  700 
Alkaline Batteries 63,300 RC LO 55/lb $0.84  700 
Rechargeable batteries N/A RC LO 55/lb $0.60  600 
Lithium Batteries N/A RC LO lb $4.00  40 
Lithium-Ion Batteries N/A RC LO lb $0.45  40 
Button Cell batteries N/A RC LO lb $4.50  50 
Empty Drums 0 RC LO EA $20.00  50 

Asbestos 
1,800 LF LO CYB $300.00  750 

16



3 

3. No Other Changes. Except as amended by this First Amendment, all other terms and
conditions in the Agreement shall remain unchanged and shall continue in full force and
effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amendment to 
Agreement for On-Call Household Hazardous Waste Transportation and Disposal Services as of 
________________, 2023. 

AGENCY: CONTRACTOR: 

SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT 
AGENCY 

ACTenviro 

By: 
Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director 

Date:  ___ 

By: _____ 
    Signature 

Name: ________________________ 

Title:   

Date:     ___ 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

By: 
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov

Agenda Item #: 4.4 
Staff Contact: Scott 
Agenda Date: 5/18/2023 
Approved By: LL 

ITEM:  Approval of Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, 
Transportation, and Recycling Services 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the Board approve the resolution authorizing the Zero Waste Sonoma
(ZWS) Executive Director to execute the Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling,
Transportation, and Recycling Services (Third Amendment) with Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC.

II. BACKGROUND

The management of e-waste generated in Sonoma County is a core function of ZWS. In March of
2018, ZWS staff issued a Board-approved RFP for E-Waste Transportation and Recycling Services
with the option of including handling services. Prior to 2018, ECS Refining was performing e-waste
transportation and recycling services and Recology was performing e-waste handling services.

The Board approved the Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services
(Agreement) with Onsite Electronics (Onsite) on June 20, 2018, and a Notice to Proceed was
issued on July 10, 2018. Onsite has been performing transportation and recycling services since
then and started providing e-waste handling services in February 2019 after the previous contract
with Recology expired.

The original termination date in the Agreement with Onsite was June 30, 2021. In April 2021, the
First Amendment was executed providing an extension with a new termination date of June 30,
2022 and included an updated pricing structure. The payments to ZWS were increased from
$0.19/lb to $0.26/lb for Covered Electronic Waste as set by the State of California. The costs to
ZWS increased from $0.10/lb to $0.20/lb for Universal Waste Electronic Devices (UWED) due to
changes in the plastic recycling industry. The cost of a trailer exchange also increased from $525
per trailer to $850 per trailer based on actual labor costs realized through operating experience.

The Second Amendment, executed in April 2022, extended the term of the agreement by one year
and is set to expire on June 30, 2023.

III. DISCUSSION

ZWS staff is satisfied with the services provided by Onsite Electronics and wish to extend the
contract. The proposed changes to the Third Amendment include an extension of the term to June
30, 2026, an increased truck exchange rate, and changes in the covered electronic waste (CEW)
payments as described in the Funding Impact section.

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

With both revenue and expenditures calculated, the cost to ZWS is approximately $67,487 per

39



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov

year for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services with Onsite Electronics. The 
Third Amendment reflects changes in the truck exchange rate and the covered electronic waste 
(CEW) payments. 

In 2022, Onsite Electronics completed a total of 126 truck exchanges at the rate of $850 each. The 
new rate of $1,050 per truck exchange increases annual costs by $25,200. 

Onsite Electronics pays Zero Waste Sonoma for CEW in accordance with the recovery rate for 
approved collectors as set by CalRecycle. The current rate is $0.33/pound, an increase from 
$0.26/pound between July 2020 and June 2022. Using 2022 collected weight, the payment 
equates to $153,514 annually.  

The new rates have already been reflected in the ZWS work plan and in the budget presented to 
the Board in February and March of 2023, so no adjustment is required to the FY 23-24 budget.  

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Third Amendment to the Agreement
2. Second Amendment to the Agreement
3. First Amendment to the Agreement
4. Original Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services
5. Resolution

40



1 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR E-WASTE HANDLING, TRANSPORTATION, AND 
RECYCLING SERVICES 

This Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and 
Recycling Services (“Third Amendment”) is made as of the 18th day of May, 2023, by the 
Sonoma County Waste Management Agency (“Agency”) and Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC 
(“Contractor”).  

RECITALS 

A. Agency and Contractor entered into an Agreement for E-Waste Handling,
Transportation, and Recycling Services, dated June 20, 2018, a First Amendment to
Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services dated April 15,
2021 and a Second Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation,
and Recycling Services dated April 21, 2022 (collectively, “Agreement”) pursuant to
which Contractor agreed to handle, sort, and transport electronic waste, and ensure the
proper recycling of collected materials; and

B. The Agreement expires on June 30, 2023; and

C. Agency and Contractor desire to update the pricing structure in Exhibit A and extend the
term of the Agreement to expire on June 30, 2026.

AMENDMENT 

1. Amendment to Section 3. Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety
to read as follows:

“3. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be from Effective Date (July 
10, 2018) to June 30, 2026, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions 
of Article 4 below.” 

2. Amendment to Exhibit A, Section 2 A. Exhibit A, Section 2 A is hereby amended in its
entirety to read as follows:

“A. Payments to Agency: 
i. Equivalent to the recovery rate for Approved Collectors as set by

CalRecycle for CRT CEW
ii. Equivalent to the recovery rate for Approved Collectors as set by

CalRecycle for non-CRT CEW
iii. $0.12 per pound for PCs”

41



2 

3. Amendment to Exhibit A, Section 2 B. Exhibit A, Section 2 B is hereby amended in its
entirety to read as follows:

“B. Costs to Agency: 
i. $0.20 per pound for miscellaneous UWED
ii. $0.10 per pound for DLP devices
iii. $65.00 per box of four (4) rolls of shrink wrap
iv. $1,050.00 for 26’ truck exchange from Central Disposal Site (includes

transportation and labor for two staff)
v. $1,050.00 for 26’ truck exchange from Sonoma Transfer Station (includes

transportation and labor for two staff)”

4. No Other Changes. Except as amended by this Third Amendment, all other terms and
conditions in the Agreement shall remain unchanged and shall continue on in full force and
effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Third Amendment to Agreement 
for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services on the day and year first written 
above.  

AGENCY:  CONTRACTOR: 
SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT ONSITE ELECTRONICS RECYCLING, LLC 
AGENCY 

By:   By: _____ 
Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director Signature 

Name: ________________________ 

Title:   

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

By: 
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel 

42



Second Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services 

1

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR E-WASTE HANDLING, TRANSPORTATION, AND 
RECYCLING SERVICES

This Second Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and 
Recycling Services (“Second Amendment”) is made as of the 21st day of April, 2022, by the 
Sonoma County Waste Management Agency (“SCWMA”) and Onsite Electronics Recycling, LLC
(“Contractor”). 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, SCWMA and Contractor entered into that certain Agreement for E-Waste 
Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services (the “Agreement”), dated June 20, 2018,
pursuant to which Contractor agreed to handle, sort, and transport electronic waste, and 
ensure the proper recycling of collected materials; and 

WHEREAS, that certain Agreement allows for up to two annual extensions upon written 
mutual agreement; and 

WHEREAS, SCWMA and Contractor entered into a First Amendment to the Agreement 
on April 15, 2021 that updated the pricing structure and is set to expire on June 30, 2022. 

NOW, THEREFORE, SCWMA and Contractor desire to extend the term of the Agreement 
to expire on June 30, 2023. 

AMENDMENT 

1. Amendment to Section 3, Term of Agreement. Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby
amended in its entirety to read as follows:

“3.  Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be from Effective Date (July 10, 
2018) to June 30, 2023, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 4 below.” 

2. No Other Changes. Except as amended by this Second Amendment, all other terms and
conditions in the Agreement shall remain unchanged and shall continue on in full force and
effect.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

43



Second Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services

2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Second Amendment to 
Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services on the day and year 
first above written. 

AGENCY: CONTRACTOR:

SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT ONSITE ELECTRONICS RECYCLING, LLC
AGENCY

By: By:
Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director

Its: 

Date: Date: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By:
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel

44



45



46



47



April 29, 2021

48

patricia.alshabazz
Stamp



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



RESOLUTION NO.: 2023-11 

DATED:  May 18, 2023 

 RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO 
WASTE SONOMA, (“AGENCY”) AUTHORIZING A THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT WITH ONSITE 

ELECTRONICS RECYCLING, LLC (“CONTRACTOR”) FOR ELECTRONIC WASTE (E-WASTE) HANDLING, 
TRANSPORTATION AND RECYCLING SERVICES  

WHEREAS, Contractor represents that it is duly qualified and experienced in Electronic 
Waste (“E-Waste”) handling, transportation, recycling and related services; and  

WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of Agency, it is necessary and 
desirable to employ the services of Contractor for handling, transporting and recycling E-Waste 
collected at all transfer stations in Sonoma County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zero Waste Sonoma Board hereby 
authorizes the Agency’s Executive Director to execute the Third Amendment to Agreement with 
Onsite Electronics Recycling for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services. 

MEMBERS: 

-  - -   - -  - -  - -   - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

-   - -   - -  - -  - -   - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: -  -  NOES: -  - ABSENT: -  -   ABSTAIN: -  - 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:   DATE:  May 18, 2023 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of Zero Waste Sonoma of the State of California 
in and for the County of Sonoma 

64



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov

Agenda Item #: 4.5 
Staff Contact: Sales 
Agenda Date: 4/20/23 
Approved By: LL 

ITEM:  Approval of Fourth Amendment to Agreement with Soluna Outreach 
Solutions for Oil Payment Program 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends the Board authorize the Zero Waste Sonoma (ZWS) Executive Director to 

execute a Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Oil Program Management with Soluna Outreach 

Solutions.

II. BACKGROUND
In 2017, ZWS released an RFP for Oil Payment Program (OPP) management. Soluna Outreach 
Solutions was the only contractor to submit and RFP response. The Board approved a three-year 
agreement allowing for an additional two annual extensions and allows the ZWS Executive 
Director to authorize the extension. In June 2020, ZWS utilized the first annual extension 
permitted by the agreement. In June 2021, ZWS utilized the second annual extension to the 
Agreement, with the term ending June 30, 2022. Last July, ZWS approved the third amendment to 
extend the Agreement to a term ending June 30, 2023.

III. DISCUSSION

The proposed changes in the Fourth Amendment to the Oil Program Management Agreement 

include:
1. Updated term of the agreement to expire on June 30, 2024.

The funding amount of $45,000 and Scope of Services remains the same as outlined in the Third 
Amendment. The Fourth Amendment only extends the term of the agreement until June 30, 2024. 

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

The Oil Program Management Agreement is funded through the OPP by CalRecycle. Historically,
CalRecycle’s statewide budget for OPP is around $11M and ZWS receives between $145,000-
$150,000 per year. Soluna Outreach Solutions received $70,000-$75,000 per year between FY 17-
18 to FY 20-21.

During the FY 21-22, CalRecycle’s statewide budget for OPP11 was cut by approximately 60% and
ZWS received $78,349. As a consequence, the Second Amendment of the Oil Payment
Management Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions was reduced to $40,000. The remaining
OPP11 grant funds were used for other oil-related projects and staff time.

The OPP12 CalRecycle check received by ZWS for FY 2022-2023 totals $86,560, an increase of
$8,211 over the previous grant Cycle.

65



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579 www.zerowastesonoma.gov

The Third Amendment to the Oil Program Management Agreement with Soluna Outreach 
Solutions authorized a budget of $45,000, an increase of $5,000 from FY 21-22. The remaining 
$26,560 was used by ZWS for other oil-related projects and staff time. 

The Fourth Amendment to the Oil Program Management Agreement maintains the budget of 
$45,000 for Soluna Outreach Solutions. ZWS received $93,590 in funding for the FY 23-24 Grant 
Cycle (OPP13), an increase of $7,030 over the OPP12 funding amount. The remaining $48,590 will 
be used by ZWS for other oil-related projects and staff time.  

The contract value was already taken into consideration and approved for the FY 23-24 ZWS 
Budget. 

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Fourth Amendment to Oil Program Management Agreement
2. Resolution No.: 2023-12

66



FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT WITH SOLUNA OUTREACH 
SOLUTIONS FOR OIL PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

This Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Oil Program Management (“Fourth 
Amendment”) is made as of the 18th day of May, 2023, by the Sonoma County 
Waste Management Agency (“SCWMA”) and Soluna Outreach Solutions (“Contractor”).  

RECITALS 

A. SCWMA and Contractor entered into that certain Agreement for Oil Program
Management (the “Agreement”), dated June 21, 2017, pursuant to which Contractor agreed to 
the management, outreach, and education of the Used Motor Oil and Filter Program; and 

B. SCWMA and Contractor entered into a First Amendment to Agreement on June
1, 2020 that extended the term of the Agreement to June 30, 2021; and 

C. SCWMA and Contractor entered into a Second Amendment to Agreement
on June 1, 2021 that extended the term of the Agreement to June 30, 2022; and

D. SCWMA and Contractor entered into a Third Amendment to Agreement on July
21, 2022 that extended the term of the Agreement to June 30, 2023; and

E. SCWMA and Contractor desire to enter into a Fourth Amendment to Agreement
that will extend the term of the Agreement to June 30, 2024. 

AMENDMENT

1. Amendment to Section 3. Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read
as follows:

“3.  Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2024, 
with no annual extensions remaining, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Article 
4 below.” 

4. No Other Changes. Except as amended by this Fourth Amendment, all other terms and
conditions in the Agreement shall remain unchanged and shall continue on in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Fourth Amendment to Agreement 
for Oil Program Management on the day and year first above written. 

AGENCY:   CONTRACTOR:
SONOMA COUNTY WASTE SOLUNA OUTREACH SOLUTIONS
MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

By:______________________ By: ___________________________ 
Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director Its:   
Date:    Date:    

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: _______________________ 
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel

67



RESOLUTION NO.: 2023-12 

DATED:  May 18, 2023 

RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO 
WASTE SONOMA, (“AGENCY”) AUTHORIZING A FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT WITH 

SOLUNA OUTREACH SOLUTIONS (“CONTRACTOR”) FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR OIL 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

WHEREAS, Contractor represents to Agency that it is a duly qualified firm experienced 
in public education and used oil related services; and  

   WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of the Agency, it is necessary and 
desirable to employ the services of Contractor to assist in the management of its oil recycling 
program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zero Waste Sonoma Board hereby 
authorizes the Agency’s Executive Director to execute the Fourth Amendment to Agreement 
with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Oil Program Management through June 30, 2024. 

MEMBERS: 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: - - NOES: - - ABSENT: - - ABSTAIN: - - 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:   DATE:  May 18, 2023 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of Zero Waste Sonoma of the State of California 
in and for the County of Sonoma 
County of Sonoma 

68



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda Item #: 
Cost Center: 
Staff Contact:  
Agenda Date:  

4.6 
HHW and Education 
Cushwa 
5/18/23 
LLApproved By:  

ITEM:  Approval of Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Spanish 
Language Outreach Program 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the Board authorize the Zero Waste Sonoma (ZWS) Executive Director to

execute the Agreement for Spanish Language Outreach with Soluna Outreach Solutions.

II. BACKGROUND
Spanish Language Outreach is one of the objectives in the Countywide Integrated Waste
Management Plan (CoIWMP) to encourage waste diversion in non-English speaking communities.
Soluna Outreach Solutions received the three-year Spanish Language Outreach contract as a result
of the 2017 RFP, with extensions since.

III. DISCUSSION
ZWS previously entered into an agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions to provide Spanish
Language Outreach Services between FY 17-18 and FY 19-20, but ZWS opted to not continue those
services during the COVID-19 pandemic due to budget cuts.  Staff is recommending that the Board
continue the Spanish Language Outreach now that ZWS is back to participating in more in person
events and has adequate budget funding to continue to provide these services.  Soluna Outreach
Solutions has demonstrated consistent excellent work in our past contracts, and we are fortunate
to continue to work with them.

IV. FUNDING IMPACT
The Spanish Language Outreach Agreement is funded through ZWS’s Outreach and Education
budget. Between FY 17-18 and FY 19-20, Soluna Outreach Solutions received $30,000 per year for
the Spanish Language Outreach Agreement and the contract was dropped for FY 20-21 due to
COVID budget cuts. The Spanish Language Outreach Agreement would be for the same value as the
previous agreement of $30,000 per year, for three years of service at a total of $90,000.
The contract value was already taken into consideration and approved for the FY 23-24 ZWS
Budget.

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Soluna Spanish Outreach Agreement
2. Resolution No.: 2023-13

69



1 

SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY 
(also known as Zero Waste Sonoma) 

SHORT FORM CONTRACTING AGREEMENT   

Agreement for Spanish Language Outreach Services 

1. CONTRACTOR INFORMATION

Contractor: Soluna Outreach Solutions 
Address: P.O. Box 14625, Santa Rosa, CA 95402 
Telephone: (707) 494-1699

2. AGENCY INFORMATION

Agency: Sonoma County Waste Management Agency 
Address: Attn: Katie Cushwa 

2300 County Center Dr., Ste. B 100 
Santa Rosa, CA  95403 

Telephone: (707) 331-0072
Project:  Spanish Language Outreach and Spanish Eco-Desk Assistance 

3. SCOPE OF WORK

3.1 Contractor's Specified Services. This Agreement is entered into for the purpose of
establishing a contract for Spanish Language Outreach Services. Contractor shall
perform services as defined in Exhibit "A", Scope of Services.

3.2 Cooperation with SCWMA. Contractor shall cooperate with SCWMA and SCWMA
staff in the performance of all work hereunder.

3.3 Performance Standard. Contractor shall perform all work hereunder in a manner
consistent with the level of competency and standard of care normally observed by a
person practicing in Contractor's profession. If SCWMA determines that any of
Contractor's work is not in accordance with such level of competency and standard of
care, SCWMA, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to do any or all of the following:
(a) require  Contractor to meet with SCWMA to review the quality of the work and
resolve matters of concern; (b) require Contractor to repeat the work at no additional
charge until it is satisfactory; (c) terminate this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of
Article 4; or (d) pursue any and all other remedies at law or in equity.

3.4 Assigned Personnel. 
a. Contractor shall assign only competent personnel to perform work hereunder.
In the event that at any time SCWMA, in its sole discretion, desires the removal
of any person or persons assigned by Contractor to perform work hereunder,

70



2 

Contractor shall remove such person or persons immediately upon receiving 
written notice from SCWMA. 

b. Any and all persons identified in this Agreement or any exhibit hereto as the
project manager, project team, or other professional performing work hereunder
are deemed by SCWMA to be key personnel whose services are a material
inducement to SCWMA to enter into this Agreement, and without whose services
SCWMA would not have entered into this Agreement. Contractor shall not
remove, replace, substitute, or otherwise change any key personnel without the
prior written consent of SCWMA.

c. In the event that any of Contractor's personnel assigned to perform services
under this Agreement become unavailable due to resignation, sickness or other
factors outside of Contractor's control, Contractor shall be responsible for timely
provision of adequately qualified replacements.

d. In the event that Contractor assigns subcontractors to perform services under
this Agreement, Contractor shall maintain written agreements with
subcontractors for the duration of the term of this agreement. Contractor shall
provide SCWMA with copies of such agreements within ten (10) days of
execution of this agreement.

4. PAYMENT FOR SERVICES

Contractor shall invoice SCWMA on a monthly basis for all services and incidental costs 
required hereunder, a total annual amount not to exceed a maximum of thirty thousand dollars 
($30,000) for services rendered, in accordance with Section 1 above and Exhibit A. Payments 
shall be made in the proportion of work completed based upon progress reports to total 
services to be performed. Payment for satisfactory performance includes, without limitation, 
salary, fringe benefits, overhead, and profit. 

5. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Contractor is an independent contractor, working under his/her own supervision and direction 
and is not a representative of Agency.  

6. TERM

Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2026, 
with up to two annual extensions upon mutual agreement, which extensions may be authorized 
on behalf of the SCWMA by the SCWMA Executive Director, unless terminated earlier in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 14 below. 

7. INSURANCE

71



3 

With respect to performance of work under this Agreement, Contractor shall maintain and shall 
require all of its subcontractors, consultants, and other agents to maintain, insurance as 
described below: 

6.1 Workers' Compensation Insurance. Workers' compensation insurance with statutory 
limits as required by the Labor Code of the State of California. Said policy shall be 
endorsed with the following specific language: This policy shall not be cancelled or 
materially changed without first giving thirty (30) days' prior written notice to the 
SCWMA. 

6.2 General Liability Insurance. Commercial general liability insurance covering bodily 
injury and property damage using an occurrence policy form, in an amount no less than 
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) combined single limit for each occurrence. Said 
commercial general liability insurance policy shall either be endorsed with the following 
specific language or contain equivalent language in the policy: 

a. The SCWMA, its Board of Directors and staff, is named as additional insured
for all liability arising out of the operations by or on behalf of the named
insured in the performance of this Agreement.

b. The inclusion of more than one insured shall not operate to impair the rights
of one insured against another insured, and the coverage afforded shall apply
as though separate policies had been issued to each insured, but the
inclusion of more than one insured shall not operate to increase the limits of
the company's liability.

c. The insurance provided herein is primary coverage to the SCWMA with
respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs maintained by the
SCWMA.

d. This policy shall not be cancelled or materially changed without first giving
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the SCWMA.

6.3 Automobile Insurance. Automobile liability insurance covering bodily injury and 
property damage in an amount no less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined 
single limit for each occurrence. Said insurance shall include coverage for owned, hired, 
and non-owned vehicles. Said policy shall be endorsed with the following language: 
This policy shall not be cancelled or materially changed without first giving thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the SCWMA. 

6.4 Documentation. The following documentation shall be submitted to the SCWMA: 

a. Properly executed Certificates of Insurance clearly evidencing all coverages,
limits, and endorsements required above. Said Certificates shall be submitted
prior to the execution of this Agreement. Contractor agrees to maintain

72



4 

current Certificates of Insurance evidencing the above-required coverages, 
limits, and endorsements on file with the SCWMA for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

b. Signed copies of the specified endorsements for each policy. Said
endorsement copies shall be submitted within thirty (30) days of execution of
this Agreement.

c. Upon SCWMA's written request, certified copies of the insurance policies.
Said policy copies shall be submitted within thirty (30) days of SCWMA's
request.

6.5 Policy Obligations. Contractor's indemnity and other obligations shall not be limited 
by the foregoing insurance requirements. 

6.6 Material Breach. If Contractor, for any reason, fails to maintain insurance coverage 
which is required pursuant to this Agreement, the same shall be deemed a material 
breach of this Agreement. SCWMA, in its sole option, may terminate this Agreement 
and obtain damages from Contractor resulting from said breach. Alternatively, SCWMA 
may purchase such required insurance coverage, and without further notice to 
Contractor, SCWMA may deduct from sums due to Contractor any premium costs 
advanced by SCWMA for such insurance. These remedies shall be in addition to any 
other remedies available to SCWMA.  

8. INDEMNIFICATION

Contractor agrees to accept all responsibility for loss or damage to any person or entity, including 
but not limited to SCWMA, and to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, reimburse and release 
SCWMA, its officers, agents, and employees, from and against any and all actions, claims, 
damages, disabilities, liabilities and expense including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees and the 
cost of litigation incurred in the defense of claims as to which this indemnity applies or incurred 
in an action by SCWMA to enforce the indemnity provisions herein, whether arising from 
personal injury, property damage or economic loss of any type, that may be asserted by any 
person or entity arising out of or in connection with the performance of Contractor hereunder, 
but, to the extent required by law, excluding liability due to the sole negligence or willful 
misconduct of SCWMA. If there is a possible obligation to indemnify, Contractor's duty to defend 
with legal counsel acceptable to SCWMA, exists regardless of whether it is ultimately determined 
that there is not a duty to indemnify. This indemnification obligation is not limited in any way by 
any limitation on the amount or type of damages or compensation payable to or for Contractor 
or its agents.  

9. CHANGES TO THE AGREEMENT

Changes to this Agreement must be approved in writing by the Agency’s Executive Director and 
Contractor. 

73



5 

10. REPRESENTATIONS OF CONTRACTOR

10.1 Standard of Care. SCWMA has relied upon the professional ability and training of
Contractor as a material inducement to enter into this Agreement. Contractor hereby
agrees that all its work will be performed and that its operations shall be conducted in
accordance with generally accepted and applicable professional practices and
standards as well as the requirements of applicable federal, state and local laws, it
being understood that acceptance of Contractor's work by SCWMA shall not operate as
a waiver or release.

10.2 Status of Contractor. The parties intend that Contractor, in performing the services
specified herein, shall act as an independent contractor and shall control the work and
the manner in which it is performed. Contractor is not to be considered an agent or
employee of SCWMA and is not entitled to participate in any pension plan, worker's
compensation plan, insurance, bonus, or similar benefits provided to SCWMA staff. In
the event SCWMA exercises its right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 4,
above, Contractor expressly agrees that it shall have no recourse or right of appeal
under rules, regulations, ordinances, or laws applicable to employees.

10.3 Taxes. Contractor agrees to file federal and state tax returns and pay all applicable
taxes on amounts paid pursuant to this Agreement and shall be solely liable and
responsible to pay such taxes and other obligations, including, but not limited to, state
and federal income and FICA taxes. Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold SCWMA
harmless from any liability which it may incur to the United States or to the State of
California as a consequence of Contractor's failure to pay, when due, all such taxes and
obligations. In case SCWMA is audited for compliance regarding any withholding or
other applicable taxes. Contractor agrees to furnish SCWMA with proof of payment of
taxes on these earnings.

9.4 Records Maintenance. Contractor shall keep and maintain full and complete
documentation and accounting records concerning all services performed that are
compensable under this Agreement, and shall make such documents and records
available to SCWMA for inspection at any reasonable time. Contractor shall maintain
such records for a period of four (4) years following completion of work hereunder.

9.5 Conflict of Interest. Contractor covenants that it presently has no interest and that it
will not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that represents a financial conflict of
interest under state law or that would otherwise conflict in any manner or degree with
the performance of its services hereunder. Contractor further covenants that in the
performance of this Agreement no person having any such interests shall be employed
by Contractor. In addition, if requested to do so by SCWMA, Contractor shall complete
and file and shall require any other person doing work under Contractor and this
Agreement to complete and file a "Statement of Economic Interest" with SCWMA
disclosing Contractor's or such other person's financial interests.

74



6 

9.6 Nondiscrimination. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and 
local laws, rules, and regulations in regard to nondiscrimination in employment because 
of race, color, ancestry, national origin, religion, sex, marital status, age, medical 
condition, pregnancy, disability, sexual orientation or other prohibited basis. All 
nondiscrimination rules or regulations required by law to be included in this Agreement 
are incorporated herein by this reference. 

9.7 AIDS Discrimination. Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions of Chapter 19, 
Article II, of the Sonoma County Code prohibiting discrimination in housing, 
employment, and services because of AIDS or HIV infection during the term of this 
Agreement and any extensions of the term. 

9.8 Assignment Of Rights. Contractor assigns to SCWMA all rights throughout the world 
in perpetuity in the nature of copyright, trademark, patent, right to ideas, in and to all 
versions of the plans and specifications, if any, now or later prepared by Contractor in 
connection with this Agreement. Contractor agrees to take such actions as are 
necessary to protect the rights assigned to SCWMA in this Agreement, and to refrain 
from taking any action which would impair those rights. Contractor's responsibilities 
under this provision include, but are not limited to, placing proper notice of copyright on 
all versions of the plans and specifications as SCWMA may direct, and refraining from 
disclosing any versions of the plans and specifications to any third party without first 
obtaining written permission of SCWMA. Contractor shall not use or permit another to 
use the plans and specifications in connection with this or any other project without first 
obtaining written permission of SCWMA. 

9.9 Ownership And Disclosure Of Work Product. All reports, original drawings, graphics, 
plans, studies, and other data or documents ("documents"), in whatever form or format, 
assembled or prepared by Contractor or Contractor's subcontractors, consultants, and 
other agents in connection with this Agreement shall be the property of SCWMA. 
SCWMA shall be entitled to immediate possession of such documents upon completion 
of the work pursuant to this Agreement. Upon expiration or termination of this 
Agreement, Contractor shall promptly deliver to SCWMA all such documents which 
have not already been provided to SCWMA in such form or format as SCWMA deems 
appropriate. Such documents shall be and will remain the property of SCWMA without 
restriction or limitation. Contractor may retain copies of the above described documents 
but agrees not to disclose or discuss any information gathered, discovered, or 
generated in any way through this Agreement without the express written permission of 
SCWMA. 

11. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

Contractor and Agency shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules and 
regulations relating to performance of the scope of work under this Agreement.  

12. APPLICABLE LAW AND FORUM

75



7 

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to California law and any action to 
enforce the terms of this Agreement or for the breach thereof shall be brought and tried in the 
County of Sonoma. 

13. UNCONTROLLABLE CIRCUMSTANCES.

Provided that the requirements of this Section 13 are met, neither party shall be considered in 
default in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement (not including the obligation 
to make payments) to the extent that such performance is prevented or impaired by the 
occurrence of Uncontrollable Circumstances. If, as a result of an event of Uncontrollable 
Circumstances, either party is wholly or partially unable to meet its obligations under this 
Agreement, then it shall give the other party prompt written notice of such event, describing it in 
reasonable detail. The obligations under this Agreement of the affected party shall be 
suspended, other than for payment of monies due, but only with respect to the particular 
component of obligations affected by the event and only for the period during which the event of 
Uncontrollable Circumstances exists; provided, however, that Contractor shall have a 
reasonable time during which to assess the impacts caused by an event of Uncontrollable 
Circumstances and sole discretion to determine whether it will make repairs and resume all or 
part of the operations or whether it will terminate all operations at the Facility. 

14. TERMINATION; DEFAULT.

Either party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon giving the other party written 
notice if the other party: (i) fails to make any payment required hereunder, not disputed in good 
faith, within thirty (30) days after receiving notice of nonpayment from the non-defaulting party; 
(ii) materially fails to comply with any federal, state or local laws, rules, orders or ordinances, or
regulations that pertain to the handling of the waste hereunder; or (iii) breaches any other
material obligation under this Agreement and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days
after receiving written notice thereof from the non-defaulting party, provided, that in the event
the party shows good cause why it should be entitled to reasonable additional time to cure the
breach, the non-breaching party shall allow such reasonable additional time.

SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

By: _________________________________ 
Leslie Lukacs, Agency Executive Director 

Date: ______________________ 

Reviewed as to form: 

__________________________________ 
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel 

76



8 

Soluna Outreach Solutions 

Signature: ___________________________________ 

Title: _______________________ 

Date: _______________________ 

77



A Door to Community Engagement 
Scope of Work 

Spanish Language Outreach Services 
Zero Waste Sonoma  

FY 2023-2024 

Soluna Outreach Solutions has the advantage of more than twenty years of experience performing 
the tasks mentioned in the attached budget table.  In preparing this Scope of Work, we have 
carefully analyzed the records of past years to ensure that our plan continues and builds upon the 
services that Zero Waste Sonoma (formerly known as Sonoma County Waste Management Agency) 
has depended upon to date. Knowing that this is a multi-year contract, we have also tried to 
anticipate future needs and incorporate a degree of flexibility into the plan.   

Our plan is divided into four broad categories: Media, Person-to-Person Outreach, Assistance to 
Agency Staff, and Reporting & Administration.  

Media 
The value of Hugo Mata’s relationships with local Spanish media cannot be over-emphasized.  As a 
frequent guest on radio stations and other media, he is able to promote Agency programs with a 
level of depth and a sheer quantity of airtime that would not otherwise be available.  Paid media 
while a relatively small part of the proposed budget, is used strategically to target specific 
messages to the Spanish speaking public, and also to reinforce these vital relationships.  Hugo is 
able to negotiate very generous packages including free spots and reduced rates for print ads.  
Time is also budgeted to assist Agency staff to plan and negotiate media campaigns that include 
Spanish buys.  

 Radio
Hugo Mata is producer and host of the weekly show “Nuestra Tierra” (“Our Earth”) on KBBF Radio.  
The show features in depth information on a wide range of environmental topics, including 
interviews with representatives of various agencies and programs, and call-ins from listeners.  
Individual programs may feature multiple topics or in some cases be almost entirely devoted to 
specific issues, so the cost is divided into increments of one quarter of each show.  Also, because 
the programming is heard throughout the region, we are able to focus some shows on specific 
topics for the full hour with information particular to up to four jurisdictions, and divide the cost 
accordingly.  (Thus, for example a December program on holiday season waste reduction and 
recycling might include details for Christmas tree pickups in multiple counties.) We have budgeted 
for 30 segments per year to promote Agency programs, which will be aired on up to 36 of the 
weekly shows.  This format allows a great deal of flexibility for Agency priorities as campaigns on 
specific topics can be given very in-depth coverage on some shows while ongoing programs can 
receive frequent reinforcement and repetition.   

Besides the Nuestra Tierra radio program at KBBF 89.1FM, Hugo works really closely with all the 
other Spanish language radio stations in the area.  He is often invited to participate in different 

Attachment A

78



interviews to promote the recycling, conservation and other environmental programs in Sonoma 
County and surrounding areas.  

The majority of radio stations provide a regional Mexican music format, but include some space in 
their programming to promote community organizations and their resources. This provides a great 
opportunity to promote the Agency’s resources and programs.  Commercial radio station Latino 
95.5FM and public community radio station KBBF 89.1FM offer bilingual programming.  Latino 95.5 
is the newest radio station and provides a Spanish Contemporary format that serves the multi-
cultural Hispanic audience in Sonoma County.  The complete list of Spanish language radio stations 
is included in the following graphic. 

Name Call Letters Format Location Coverage Primary Target Notes

Radio Lazer KSRT  107.1FM Top 40 Mexican 
Regional

Santa Rosa Santa Rosa, Petaluma Hispanic adults 18-49, Males 18-44
Will work within our budget and will provide one spot 
for free for every spot we buy.  They offer other 
programs we can use to market information.

La Mejor KJOR  104.1FM Spanish Oldies Santa Rosa Santa Rosa, Petaluma Females 25-44; Hispanic adults 18-49
Will work within our budget and will provide one spot 
for free for every spot we buy.  They offer other 
programs we can use to market information.

El Patron KRRS  1460AM Mexican 
Regional 

Santa Rosa Covers Sonoma County Hispanic Adults 18-34 and  25-54
Will work within our budget.  Will also give a free spot 
for every spot we buy. They offer other programs we 
can use to market information.

La Zeta 1490AM
Mexican 
Regional Santa Rosa Covers Sonoma County Hispanic Adults 18-34 and 25-54

Will work within our budget.  Will also give a free spot 
for every spot we buy. They offer other programs we 
can use to market information.

Exitos 98.7 KXTS  98.7FM

Mexican 
Regional  and 
other music 

formats

Santa Rosa
Covers Sonoma, Napa, 

Lake and other 
counties.

Hispanic Adults 18-34 and 25-54 This is a sister station with Latino 95.5, so it will work 
a goo deal when buying for both radio stations. 

Latino 95.5 KSXY-HD 
95.5FM

Spanish 
Contemporary

Santa Rosa Covers a good portion 
of Sonoma County 

The target audience for LATINO 95.5 ranges 
in age between 18-34 with an emphasis on 
25-30, 55% of which are mostly male and 
45% female. This audience is bi-lingual, but 
prefers to speak Spanish.

LATINO 95.5FM, is Santa Rosa’s only contemporary 
Spanish-language station, launched in September of 
2016 with the mission to serve today’s multi-cultural 
Hispanic community in Sonoma County. The station 
accomplishes this by providing a fun, informative, 
culturally relevant, Spanish-language content and 
music that matches the audience’s lifestyle.

KBBF Radio KBBF  89.1FM Spanish Public 
Radio

Santa Rosa Portions of 10 counties 
in Northern California

Bilingual programming, audience ranges in 
age between 18-65 and some children's 
programming. 

Will work within our budget.  Will also give a free spot 
for every spot we buy.  They produce and air 
minidramas and interviews.  The first bilingual public 
radio station in the United States. Serving the peoples 
of eleven North Bay counties since 1973.

 Print Media
We have allocated some budget for print media, which include graphic and art expenses.  In the 
past, we have worked with Graphic Designer Becky Haddad and we plan to continue to use her 
services as needed, but we are also working with other graphic designers a well. There are a few 
local Spanish newspapers that will be good to consider when conducting outreach to the Spanish 
speaking community in Sonoma County.  However, Impulso News and El Superior Newspapers are 
the two most known Spanish language papers in the area. They are both distributed in local Latino 

79



businesses in more than six counties including Sonoma County.  Their electronic version potentially 
reaches an even greater audience.  

La Voz is a bilingual newspaper with a good distribution, but it is relatively pricey.  Their audience is 
not necessarily the audience we want to reach, but it is included in the list for your consideration.  
La Prensa is a bilingual paper produced by The PressDemocrat.  It is mostly distributed in Sonoma 
County, but its electronic version has the potential to reach thousands of readers.  The following 
list provides more information on each paper. 

Name Format Location Coverage Contact Person

Superior 
Newspaper

Spanish 
Newspaper

Santa Rosa

Cotati, 
Healdsburg, 

Petaluma 
Rohnert Park, 
Santa Rosa, 
Sebastopol, 

Sonoma 
Windsor and 

others.

Jesus Heredia

La Voz 
Bilingual 

Newspaper

Bilingual 
(Spanish/Engli

sh)
Santa Rosa

Reaches 12 
counties 
including 
Sonoma

Ani Weave

Impulso 
Newspaper

Spanish 
Newspaper

Petaluma

Cotati, 
Healdsburg, 

Petaluma 
Rohnert Park, 
Santa Rosa, 
Sebastopol, 

Sonoma 
Windsor and 

others.

Francisco Estrada

La Prensa 
Sonoma

Bilingual 
(Spanish/Engli

sh)
Santa Rosa

Reaches 
Sonoma and 
Mendocino 
Counties

Ricardo Ibarra

El Guardian
Spanish 

Newspaper Santa Rosa
Sonoma 
County Lidia del Carlo

An online Spanish-language news website and email newsletter for Latino readers on the North 
Coast.

Notes

This newspaper has been serving the community for 16  years. It covers many counties in  Northern 
California including Marin, Sonoma, Solano, Lake, Napa and Mendocino.

 Serves all communities by concentrating on the Hispanic and Anglo, publishing in both Spanish and 
English. Our goal is to promote understanding and improve communication between peoples. We 
wish to extend this opportunity to our clients and make bilingual ads an option for our advertisers. 

This newspaper has been serving the community for 14 years. It covers many counties in  Northern 
California including Marin, Sonoma, Solano, and Mendocino.  It distributes 20, 000 copies every 
month at Latino businesses in these counties.  

Monthly bilingual newspaper also available digitally.  A Spanish issue by the PressDemocrat.

 Social Media
Zero Waste Sonoma has a strong presence in social media.  We definitely encourage Staff to 
include this medium when conducting outreach to the Spanish speaking community in Sonoma 
County.  This is of great use especially when promoting the Community Toxics Collections, 
Electronics Collections, and other event calendars.   

In order to avoid having “too many cooks in the kitchen,” at the staff’s direction, we will translate 
all these postings as they are scheduled for upload to social media.  It is our understanding that 
these postings are planned months in advance providing us plenty of time to get Spanish 
translations ready to be posted back to back with the general postings.     

 Spanish Hotline

80



The Eco-Desk Spanish hotline has been answered by Hugo Mata since 2007. The number of calls 
has declined over time as more people use the Spanish Recycling Guide and the internet to retrieve 
information, but it is still an important way to connect the community directly with the Agency.  
The number is promoted in radio and print advertising and mentioned frequently on Nuestra Tierra 
and in interviews on other stations.  We use a web-based service that allows us to route calls to a 
cellphone carried by bilingual staff.  The system records data so that after-hours calls can be 
returned even if no voicemail is left.  Our unit-based charge per call includes logging each call and 
providing the data to the Agency.  

Person to Person Outreach 
Zero Waste Sonoma has been represented at major Latino events for many years by our bilingual 
staff, and this proposed scope continues that tradition.  We have included a limited budget for 
display materials since we have everything we currently need, but will augment or replace items as 
needed.  

NOTE: In the event that person-to-person outreach is eliminated due to cancelled community 
events caused by the COVID-19 crisis, Soluna Outreach Solutions is prepared to create other 
community outreach alternatives. These will involve a larger expense in media and other channels, 
that will help in engaging the community on the different recycling programs encouraged and 
promoted by Zero Waste Sonoma. 

Events take place throughout the year, and range from very large high-profile festivals such as 
Mexican Independence Day and Cinco de Mayo, to more local events such as the Binational Health 
Fairs that take place in communities throughout the county each fall.  We have budgeted for 
approximately 12 events per year. In some cases, we are able to share these costs with other 
agencies we represent, allowing the budget to go further.   

Our staff are not only fluently bilingual but bicultural, easily establishing rapport.  They engage the 
target audience with genuine enthusiasm, often reaching out to draw people into conversation and 
involving entire families in the process.  They use games such as wheel of fortune and plinko to 
attract the audience, skillfully weaving questions about environmental topics into the game so that 
participants and bystanders alike are exposed to the information in a fun way.  Because our staff 
are knowledgeable on a broad range of topics they are perceived as a trusted resource for the 
community in general as well as ably representing Zero Waste Sonoma and our other clients.   

An important part of building and maintaining relationships in the Latino community is connecting 
with community organizations and leadership.  Hugo regularly participates in meetings and 
activities with organizations such as Vision y Compromiso, Latino Service Providers, Los Cien and 
the Hispanic Chamber of Commerce.  In addition to bringing Agency printed materials to share at 
meetings and offering information to those attending, these connections have many other 
benefits.  Time for these activities is often pro-rated with other clients.  

Special opportunities to interact with the Spanish-speaking community may result from our 
connections in the community, or through requests made to Agency staff, for example from 

81



companies that are holding environmentally-themed events for their employees, or multifamily 
properties needing help to educate their tenants on recycling. We have budgeted time to respond 
to such opportunities as they arise.  

Some events take place every year; while others might just be a onetime deal.  As we learn from 
other events, we will add them to our list if we see that they are a good fit for our outreach.  
However, our team is very engaged in updating our list of events and key contact organizers.  

Many of these events provide an opportunity to pro-rate the costs with other clients or programs 
when appropriate. These events are great venues to conduct outreach on the General Spanish 
Recycling program.  In the past, we have worked with Sonoma Water, and other agencies which 
shared the overall costs including booth fees, staffing etc.  

Assist Agency Staff with Spanish Outreach 
As the Agency’s long-time contractor for Spanish language outreach, we have frequently assisted 
staff with special projects beyond the scope of this contract.  We have budgeted time for planning 
such projects, such as translation updates to the Recycling Guide, outreach on special topics such 
as safe disposal of various materials, and assisting businesses in compliance with regulations.   

The budget for the actual translation, editing and final draft of the Spanish Recycling Guide is not 
included in the proposal.   Only a few pages and updated information will need to be translated, so 
we will work with the Agency’s staff to get those translations done as soon as it is possible. These 
costs are usually covered through a different Purchase Order; which is expedited when needed and 
at the discretion of the Agency’s staff.  

Each winter for many years we have visited Latino businesses throughout the County.  We offer 
them copies of the Spanish Recycling Guide, answer any questions they might have about recycling, 
hazardous waste and related topics, and provide them with a stack of pocket calendars for the 
coming year which they can offer to their customers.  The COVID-19 crisis interrupted this project 
last year, but bringing it back adds value to the Spanish outreach program.  The calendars have the 
Eco-Desk website and Spanish hotline number printed on the reverse side. During these visits, we 
update a database of Latino businesses which we provide to the Agency.  This is also an 
opportunity to address any specific issues as desired by Agency staff, such as the Styrofoam 
ordinance, organics management, battery and fluorescent tube recycling, etc.  

Agency staff frequently call on us for small translation tasks which can generally be turned around 
very quickly, and time is budgeted for this as well.  

Reporting and Administration 
In addition to brief reports we create for each event, radio interview and Nuestra Tierra radio 
program, we will provide staff with lists of events and other outreach activities as requested for 
Agency reports.  Time is also budgeted for meetings with staff and the Board as needed, and for 
record keeping and administration of the project. 

82



Budget 
The attached budget page includes time and expenses to accomplish the tasks described on a 
yearly basis. Professional time is billed at $100 per hour, outreach and clerical time at $50 per hour. 
Mileage is billed at the State of California approved rate, currently $0.56/ mile.  Copies are billed at 
$0.10 for black and white, $0.50 for color.  Pass-through costs are passed through without markup 
except for a $5 administrative fee for each payment.   

83



Resolution No.: 2023-13

 Dated: May 18, 2023 

RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO 
WASTE SONOMA, (“AGENCY”) AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH SOLUNA OUTREACH 

SOLUTIONS (“CONTRACTOR”) FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR SPANISH LANGUAGE OUTREACH 

WHEREAS, Contractor represents to Agency that it is a duly qualified firm experienced in 
public education and used oil related services; and  

   WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of the Agency, it is necessary and 
desirable to employ the services of Contractor to assist in the management of its Spanish language 
outreach program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zero Waste Sonoma Board hereby authorizes 
the Agency’s Executive Director to execute the Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for 
Spanish Language Outreach through June 30, 2026. 

MEMBERS: 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - - - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: - - NOES: - - ABSENT: - -   ABSTAIN: - - 

SO ORDERED 

The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:    DATE:  May 18, 2023 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of the Sonoma County Waste Management Agency 
Agency of the State of California in and for the  
County of Sonoma 

84



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Agenda Item #: 5 
Staff Contact: Scott 
Agenda Date: May 18, 2023 
Approved By: LL 

ITEM:  Approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household 
Hazardous Waste Operations with Clean Harbors 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION / ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Board approve the resolution authorizing the Zero Waste Sonoma (ZWS)
Executive Director to execute the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household Hazardous
Waste (HHW) Operations (Agreement) with Clean Harbors Environmental Services (Clean Harbors)
and to approve any minor edits of the draft Agreement. “Minor edits” may include, but not
limited to, grammar or definitions and shall exclude prices and contract term.

II. BACKGROUND

The management of HHW generated in Sonoma County is a core function of ZWS.  Current
programs operated by Clean Harbors include the permanent HHW Facility for residents and Very
Small Quantity Generating (VSQGs) businesses, weekly temporary HHW Collection Events, and the
HHW Rover Service.

In March of 2014, the SCWMA released a request for proposals for Operations of Household
Hazardous Waste Programs and entered into an agreement with Clean Harbors Environmental
Services (Clean Harbors) on May 21, 2014.  The First Amendment to the Agreement was approved
on November 16, 2016 to include a Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase in personnel costs up to
3% annually and a termination date of June 30, 2019.

In April 2019, the Board approved a Second Amendment to the Agreement that included an
updated pricing structure with an estimated increase of $102,118 over a three-year period and a
new expiration date of June 30, 2022.

In April 2022, the Board approved the Third Amendment to the Agreement that included an 8%
increase equating to roughly $124,000, an extension of one year, and liquidated damages for the
following categories: reporting, manifesting, battery sorting, collection events, safety, regulatory,
paint service, and other. This extension expires on June 30, 2023.

III. DISCUSSION

Staff and Clean Harbors would like to extend the term of the agreement by one year to expire on
June 30, 2024. Clean Harbors has also asked for a 4.9% increase on all contract items and an
additional $2,292 per month for supplies and materials on top of the 4.9%. The supply costs are
due to an increase in price for pallets and drums.

85



2300 County Center Drive, Suite B 100, Santa Rosa, California  95403  Phone: 707.565.3579  Visit our website at www.zerowastesonoma.gov 

Negotiations between Staff and Clean Harbors has concluded, however, the agreement is 
presented in draft form to allow attorneys time to approve minor adjustments to the contract 
language. The changes to price and the extension of the term will not change unless directed by 
the ZWS Board. 

IV. FUNDING IMPACT

Staff has estimated that the cost associated with the Fourth Amendment is a maximum of
$92,267. Using the disposal data from 2021, a year with extremely high waste volumes, disposal
costs are estimated to increase by $34,156 while the price of labor, supplies, equipment, and
bonds will increase by $58,111. This increase is already reflected in the FY 23-24 approved budget.

V. ATTACHMENTS
1. Fourth Amendment to the Agreement with Clean Harbors Environmental Services for HHW

Operations
2. Resolution

86



1 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE OPERATIONS 

This Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste Operations 
(“Fourth Amendment”) is made as of the 18th day of May, 2023, by the Sonoma County Waste 
Management Agency (“Agency”) and Clean Harbors Environmental Services, Inc. (“Contractor”). 
Agency and Contractor are sometimes collectively referred to as the "parties" and singularly, as 
"party". 

RECITALS 

A. Agency and Contractor entered into an Agreement for Household Hazardous
Waste Operations (the “Agreement”) dated July 1, 2014, a First Amendment to
Agreement dated November 16, 2016, a Second Amendment to Agreement
dated April 17, 2019, and a Third Amendment to Agreement dated April 21,
2022; and

B. The Third Amendment term expires on June 30, 2023; and

C. The Agency and Contractor desire to update the payment terms and extend the
term of the Agreement to expire on June 30, 2024.

AMENDMENT 

1. Amendment to Section 3. Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety
to read as follows:

“3. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective 
Date and terminate on June 30, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement 
may be terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Article 13 below. 

2. Amendment to Section 4.6. Section 4.6 of the Agreement is hereby amended and shall
read as follows:

"4.6 Adjustment to Payment in 2023-24. All contract rates listed in Exhibit A-1, Exhibit A-
2, and Exhibit H-1, as previously modified by the First, Second and Third Amendments to 
the Agreement, shall be adjusted for the fiscal year from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024, 
by four and nine-tenths percent (4.9%) for that twelve-month period. Agency shall 
additionally pay to Contractor an additional two thousand two hundred ninety-two 
dollars ($2,292.00) per month for supplies and materials on top of the 4.9%. All 
increases shall be adjusted on the Adjustment Date." 

3. No Other Changes. Except as amended by this Fourth Amendment, all other terms and
conditions in the Agreement and Amendments shall remain unchanged and shall continue on in

87



2 

full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Fourth Amendment to 
Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste Operations on the day and year first above written. 

AGENCY: CONTRACTOR: 

SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT 
AGENCY 

Clean Harbors Environmental Services, Inc. 

By: 
Leslie Lukacs, Executive Director 

Date: _ 

By: 
          Signature 

Name:   

Title:  _________________________ 

Date:   

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

By: 
Ethan Walsh, Agency Counsel 

88



RESOLUTION NO.: 2023-13 

DATED: MAY 18, 2023 

RESOLUTION OF THE SONOMA COUNTY WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY, ALSO KNOWN AS ZERO 
WASTE SONOMA, (“AGENCY”) AUTHORIZING A FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT WITH 

CLEAN HARBORS ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (“CHES”) FOR HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE 
OPERATIONS 

WHEREAS, the Agency and CHES entered into a certain Agreement on July 1, 2014 for 
CHES to perform household hazardous waste operations on behalf of the Agency with an 
expiration date of February 11, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, the Agency and CHES entered into a First Amendment to the agreement on 
November 16, 2016 to extend the term until June 30, 2019 and adjust the pricing structure; and  

WHEREAS, the Agency and CHES entered into a Second Amendment to the agreement 
on April 17, 2019 to extend the term until June 30, 2022 and adjust the pricing structure; and 

WHEREAS, the Agency and CHES entered into a Third Amendment to the agreement on 
April 21, 2022 to extend the term until June 30, 2023 and adjust the pricing structure; and 

WHEREAS, the term of the aforementioned amendment will expire unless amended by 
the Agency. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zero Waste Sonoma Board hereby 
authorizes the Agency’s Executive Director to execute the Fourth Amendment to the 
Agreement with CHES for Household Hazardous Waste Operations and to approve any minor 
edits to the draft agreement. “Minor edits” shall exclude price and contract term.  

MEMBERS: 

-  - -  - - - - - -  - 
Cloverdale Cotati County Healdsburg Petaluma 

- - -  - - - - - - - 
Rohnert Park Santa Rosa Sebastopol Sonoma Windsor 

AYES: - - NOES: - - ABSENT: - -  ABSTAIN: - - 

SO ORDERED. 

89



The within instrument is a correct copy 
of the original on file with this office. 

ATTEST:   DATE: May 18, 2023 

_________________________________________ 
Clerk of Zero Waste Sonoma of the State of California 
in and for the County of Sonoma 

90


	Agenda for May 18, 2023 Board of Directors Meeting
	Agenda Notes
	Item 4.1: Minutes of the March 16, 2023 Meeting
	Item 4.2: March, April, May, and June 2023 Outreach Calendar
	Item 4.3: Approval of First Amendment to Agreement for HHW Transportation and Disposal Services with ACTenviro
	Item 4.4: Approval of Third Amendment to Agreement for E-Waste Handling, Transportation, and Recycling Services
	Item 4.5: Approval of Fourth Amendment to Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Oil Payment Program
	Item 4.6: Approval of Agreement with Soluna Outreach Solutions for Spanish Language Outreach Program
	Item 5: Approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Household Hazardous Waste Operations with Clean Harbors



